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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

DULCE GARCIA,
Plaintiff,
17-CV-8970(JPO)

OPINION AND ORDER

THE COMPREHENSIVE CENTER,
LLC, et al.,
Defendans.

J. PAUL OETKEN, District Judge:

Plaintiff Dulce Garciabroughtthis action alleging employment discrimination,
retaliation, and other related claims agastendants Comprehensive Center, LLC;
Comprehensive Staffing Solutions, LLGrand Street Medicine & Rehabilitation
Comprehensive Evaluation Services, PT, OT, SLP, LMSW, Psychology, &Y ork s
Comprehensive Home Care Services, L.NathanSklar, and Victor Robbins Defendantsvere
all servedby Jaruary 31, 2018. (Dkt. Nos. 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21.) None of the Defendants filed
an answer or otherwise appearé&arcianow moves for default judgment against each
Defendantwith the exception of Defendant Robbins. For the reasons that follow, the motion is
grantedin part and denied in part.
l. Background

The following facts are from the complaint and are taken as true becausedh$end
have defaulted, as explained below.

Defendants hired Dulce Gar@a a receptionist in March 2003. (Dkt. No. Cdinpl.”)
at 114.) Over the next fourteen yea@arcia was promotevice, firstto Office Manager and

then to Director of Purchasingld(at 115.) In March 2017, Garcia quit her jobld(at 136.)
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For the last two years of her employméaarcia sufferedncreasingly abusivieeatment
from Defendant Sklar. 14. at{18.) During ameeting in February 2015, in responding to a
comment by Garcia, Sklar referred to h8&panish, low class mentality(ld. at17.) In
Septemberhecalled Garcia aspic” and a‘parasite. (Id. at{ 21.) In April 2016, Sklar
slammed Garcia laptop closed on her fingers, punched her in the face, and dragged her into his
office by the collar of her shirt.ld. at §22.)

Garcia also experienced differentiedatment relating to her pajyor example, in
December 2016, Garcia began to receive her paycheck two weekddat.25.) The rest of
her coworkers continued to recetumely payments Meanwhile,Sklar told Garcia;l am
paying you too much, you are not worth what | am paying you, especially aag@uiNo
company is going to pay you whaiu’re making here. | could gesbmeone for less who is
younger” (Id. at 126.) He also told her[Y] ou’re incompetent,and ‘[Y] ou’re bad for my
company. (Id.)

On January 11, 2018klaragaintold Garcia thashe wasnot worth what Im paying
you, especially at your agé.could get an office manager for less who is younger,” adding that
she would not have a jdiy January 13, 2017.1d. atY27.) Garcia suffered a severe panic
attack on January 26, 2017d.(at 129.) Nonethelessarcia continued to work fdbefendants.
(Id. at 128.) In February 201Bklar said to Garcid:l fed like punching you in the face”; “h
leaving before kill you”; and“l am not going to lose money because of a fucking Dominican
bitch.” (Id. at 1130-3L, 33) After the last commen&klar demandethat Garcia come into his
office andthen blocked the door when she attempted to leddeat(33.) Throughout her

employmentSklar also repeatedly tol@arcia “I am not paying you to play with yourself’| *



am not paying you to jerk off*you would be treated very well if | got a blow job every
morning”; and Youre a disgusting bitch.” I¢. at{ 18.)

Garcia alleges that she wesnstructively discharged on March 27, 2016l 4t 136.)
. Legal Standard

A party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought is in defauh wias
failed to plead or otherwise defend the s@eeFed. R. Civ. P. 55(a). Once a party is in default,
“a district court must accept as true all of the factual allegations of theéefi@ulting party’ and
if appropriate, may enterdefault judgmenbased on thossell-pleaded allegation sufficient
to establista defendans liability. Belizaire v. RAV Investigative and Sec. Servs, BidF.
Supp. 3d 336, 344 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (quotirigkel v. Romanowi¢b77 F.3d 79, 84 (2d Cir.
2009)). But because a party in default does not admit conclusions of law, a district court must
first “determine whether the [plaints] allegations establish [the defendahtiability as a
matter of law’ Id. (alterations in original)

To secure a default judgment for damages, the plaintiff mustipeoevidence sufficient
to establish damages witheasonable certainty.Cement & Concrete Workers Dist. Council
Welfare Fund v. Metro Found. Contractors, 899 F.3d 230, 235 (2d Cir. 2012) (quoting
Credit Lyonnais Sec. (USA), Inc. v. Alcantat83 F.3d 151, 155 (2d Cir. 1999 District courts
have“much discretion” to determine whether to hold an inquest on damages; an inquest is not
mandatory, and a plaintif’damages may be established tgtailed affidavits and
documentary evidence.ld. at234 (quotingTlamarin v. Adam Caterers, Ind.3 F.3d 51, 54 (2d

Cir. 1993)).

[1. Discussion

Garciaalleges three broad categories of claims: (1) discrimination, and (2) retgliatio

and (3) otherelated state and municipahims.



A. Discrimination Claims (First, Third, Seventh, Eighth, Eleventh, and
Fifteenth Causes of Action)

Garciaalleges discrimination on the basis of race, age, and gender in violation of federal,
state, and municipal law. Specifically, she assgaisns under Title VII of the CiviRights Act,
42 U.S.C. 82000et seq 42 U.S.C. § 1981he AgeDiscriminationin EmploymentAct
(“ADEA"), 29 U.S.C. § 623(a); the New York State Human Rights LawSHRL"), N.Y.
Exec. Law § 296; and the New York City Human Rights LaMMCHRL”), N.Y.C. Admin.
Code § 8-102t seq.Her claims under Title VII, § 1981, the ADEA, and the NYSHRL are all
subject to the same analytiéeamework See Wheeler v. Bank of New York Me)l2&6 F.
Supp. 3d 205, 213 (N.D.N.Y. 201{ADEA and Title VII); BowenHooks v. City of New York
13 F. Supp. 3d 179, 210 n.19 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (Title VII, § 1981, and NYSHRIintiff s
NYCHRL claim, howevermust be feviewedindependently from and more liberallyari
[her] federal or state discriminatiartaims” Ben-Levy v Bloomberg L.B.518 F. App’'x 17, 19—
20 (2d Cir. 2013) (quotingoeffler v. Staten Island Univ. Hosp82 F.3d 268, 278 (2d Cir.
2009)).

Consequently, the Coustdiscrimination analysis starts wiBarcia’'s federal and state
claims. The factuahllegations in the Complaint, tak as true, establish Defendgriability for
discrimination on the basis of race.

In the context of an alleged discriminatory disgea"a plaintiff mustshow that (1) he is
a member of a protected class; (2) he guaaified for the position he held; (3) he suffered an
adverse employment action; and (4) the adverse action took place under cincesgiaing
rise to the inference of discriminatiénRuiz v. Cty. of Rocklan@09 F.3d 486, 491-92 (2d Cir.

2010).



Here, Garcia alleges (1) membership in a protected dlatiad) (Compl. § 102) and (2)
that she was qualified fdner position. (Compl. I 15-16As to the third element, Plaintiff
relies on a constructive discharge theory of adverse employment a@@iompl. at I 36.) A
constructive discharge occurs when an emplapggrtionally create[s] an intolerable work
atmosphere that force[s the plaintiff] to quit involuntarilyDall v. St. Catherine of Siena Med.
Ctr., 966 F. Supp. 2d 167, 177 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (quotkmglersen v. Rochester City Sch. Dist.
481 F. App’x. 628, 632 (2d Cir.2002)Whether a work environment is intolerable is assessed
objectively from the perspective of a reasonable emplo$ee.id. The Court concludes that
Sklar's alleged physical abuse, including his punching Garcia in the face with a closed fist,
satisfies the test for constructive discharff@ompl. at § 23 Fourth, and finally, Plaintiff has
adequately alleged circumstances giving rise to an inference of discronirkiais alleged
racial slurs are sufficient to satisfy this elemeBeee.g, Poliard v. Saintilus Day Care Cir.,
Inc., No. 11 Civ. 5174, 2013 WL 1346238, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 7, 20d)ort and
recommendation adoptedo. 11 Civ. 5174, 2013 WL 1346398 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 2, 2013)
(inferring discriminatorymotive based onplaintiff’s allegations regarding her supervisor’
negative comments abbHaitian employeé€s.

Because Garcihas established liability on her federal and state race discrimination
claims, she has satisfied the more liberal NYCHRL standodtiori. SeeMihalik v. Credit
Agricole Cheuvreux N. Am., In@.15 F.3d 102, 109 (2d Cir. 2013). In addition, because
Defendant Sklar allegedly exercised supervisory responsibility@amgia(Compl. at I 13), she
is entitled to judgment on her claim for supervisory liability und@¢1®7(13)(b) of the
NYCHRL. SeeN.Y.C. Admin. Code § 8-107(13)(bfgrasmus v. Deutsche Bank Americas

Holding Corp, No. 15Civ. 1398, 2015 WL 7736554, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 30, 2015).



For the same reasor@Garciahas adequately alleged discrimination on the basis of
gender. Defendant Sklarslurs were not only race-based, but also demonstrated Jesmk-
hostility: for example, he said, “I am not paying you to jerk ofifou’re a disgusting bitch
and “You would be treated very well if | got a blow job every morning.” (Dkt. No. 1 1 18.)
Garciahas not established liability, however, on her ADEA claim. The APEAectedclass
encompasses employees whofaréy yearsof age or olderSeewoodman v. WWOR-TV, Inc.
411 F.3d 69, 80 (2d Cir. 2005). The Complaint here is devoidegfalbns as to Plainti age.
Therefore, her ADEAliscrimination claim fails.

B. Retaliation Claims (Second, Fourth, Sixth, and Ninth Causes of Action)

Garcia assertsetaliation claims under Title VI, the ADEAhe NYSHRL, and the
NYCHRL.

The Courtstarts with the Title VII, ADEA, and NYSHRL claims for retaliation because
they are analyzed under the same framew8de Augustine v. Cornell UniyNo. 14 Civ. 7807,
2015 WL 3740077, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. June 15, 2015) (Title VIl and NYSH®0rzynski v.
JetBlue Airways Corp596 F.3d 93, 110 (2d Cir. 2010) (Title VIl and ADEA).

“In order to establish primafaciecase ofetaliation, a plaintiff must establis{iL) she
engaged in protected activity; (2) the employer was aware of this actB)ityigemployee
suffered a materially adverse employment action; and (4) there was a causatioonbetween
the alleged adverse action and the protected activiBowenHooks, 13 F. Supp. 3dt 221
(quotingKelly v. Howard I. Shapiro & Assocs. Consulting Eng’rs, P76 F.3d 10, 14 (2d Cir.
2013)). HereGarciahas failed to allege that she engaged in any protected activity. Therefore,
her retaliation claims fail.

Garcia’sNYCHRL claim fails for the same reason, even though NYCHRL claims are

generally construed more liberallfgeeMihalik, 715 F.3dat 112 (“[T]o prevail on a retaliation



claim under the NYCHRL, the plaintiff must show that she took an action opposing her
empgoyer's discrimination, and that, as a result, the employer engaged in conduct that was
reasonably likely to deter a person from engaging in such acfiotefnal citations omitted))

C. Other Stateand Municipal Claims

1 Aiding and Abetting Discrimination (Fifth and Twelfth Causes of
Action)

Garciaalleges thabefendant Sklar is liable in his individual capacity under the
NYSHRL and NYCHRLfor aiding and abetting unlawful discriminatién

Defendant Sklar is liable in his individual capacity under the NYSHRie NYSHRL
provides that “[i]t shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for angqeto aid, abet, incite,
compel or coerce the doing of any of the acts forbidden under this article, ontptdtiedo so.”
N.Y. Exec Law 8§ 296(§. “It is the employés participation in the discriminatory practice
which serves as the predicate for the imposition of liability on others for aaduhgpetting”
Colon v. City of New YorlNo. 16 Civ. 4540, 2018 WL 1565635, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2018)
(quotingDeWitt v. Liebermam8 F. Supp. 2d 280, 293 (S.D.N.Y. 1999)).

Sklars discriminatory actions count as actions of Gasciamployet for two,
independentlgufficient reasons: (Ipefendant Sklahad an ownership interest in the relevant
corporate entitiesqompl.at 111, 13),seeTomka v. Seiler Corp66 F.3d 1295, 1317 (2d Cir.
1995),abrogated on other grounds by Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellé&84 U.S. 742 (2006)
and (2) Befendant Sklar, while directly supervising Gar€egtually participate[d] in the

conduct giving rise to [the] discriminatidnFeingold 366 F.3dat 157 (quotingTlomka 66 F.3d

! Garciaalso brought this claim against defendant Victor Robbins. (Dkt. No. 1.)

However,shefails tomention Defendant Robbins in her motion for default judgment. (Dkt. No.
25))



at 1317). Therefore, Sklais individually liable foraiding and abettingmployment
discrimination under state law.

“The same standards of analysis used to evaluate aiding and abetting ctinthien
NYSHRL apply to such claims under the NYCHRL because the language of the s law
‘virtually identical”” Feingold 366 F.3dat 158 (quotingdunson v. TriMaintenance &
Contractors, Inc.171 F. Supp. 2d 103, 113-114 (E.D.N.Y. 2008yain, “the NYCHRL
makes actionable a broader range of conduct than do its state anddedetafparts”; since
Garcia prevails on hédYSHRL claim, her NYCHRL claim necessarily succeedswell

Johnson v. City of New YqgrKo. 16 Civ. 6426, 2018 WL 1597393, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31,

2018).
2. Gender-Motivated Violence (Fourteenth Cause of Action)
GarciaclaimsthatDefendants violated the Nevork City Gendemotivated Violence
Act (“GMVA™).

The GMVA provides that “any person claiming to be injured by an individual who
commits a crime of violence motivated by gender as defined in see8i08 8f this chapter,
shall have a cause of action agsisuch individual.”"N.Y.C. Admin. Code 8§ 8-904. Actime of
violence” is defineds“an act or series of acts that would constitute a misdemeanor or felony . . .
whether or not those acts have actually resulted in criminal charges, prasecwonviction.”
N.Y.C. Admin. Code § 8-903(a). The Code specifies thatiale of violence motivated by
gendet is “a crime of violence committed because of gender or on the basis of gender, and due,
at least in part, to an animus based on the vistgehdef. N.Y.C. Admin. Code 8§ 8-903(b).

Thus, [a] plaintiff is required to establish the following elements in suppda of
GMVA] claim: (1) the alleged act constitutes a misdemeanor or felony against thiéfp{a)n

presenting a serious risk of physical injury; (3) that was perpetrated bexfgulaintiff's gender;



(4) in part because of animus against plaintiff's gender; and (4) resulted yn”inidwghes v.
TwentyFirst Century Fox, InG.304 F. Supp. 3d 429, 455 (S.D.N.Y. 2018).

Here, as irHughes Garcia fails tcadequatelyallege” gender specific animus.ld.
(“Even if [plaintiff s] sexual harassment aqdid pro quadiscrimination[were] motivated by
her gender, the Complaint is devoid of facts demonstrating that [defes]dantibons were also
motivated . . . byfeelings of animosity and malevolent ill wikgainst women); see also id.
(collecting cases where GMVA claims were dismissed for failure to pleattganimus).The
absence of such allegations as to Sklanotivationare fatal to Garcia GMVA claim.

3. Interference with a Protected Right (Tenth Cause of Action)

Garciaclaimsthat Defendantsnterfered with her protected rights in violation of
municipal law SeeN.Y.C. Admin. Code § 8-107(19)making it unlawful‘for any person to
coerce, intimidate, threaten or interfere with . . . any person in the exereis@yment of . . .
any right granted or protected pursuant to [Section 8-107Threats are required to state a
claim for violation of Admn Code § 8-107(19).Nieblas-Love v. New York City Hous. Auth.
165 F. Supp. 3d 51, 78 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (quotBigtten v. LiquidHub, IncNo. 13 Civ. 1146,
2014 WL 3388866, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. July 11, 2014)). tAréat is a“denunciation to a person of
ill to befall him [or her] or an*“indication of impending dnger or harm. United States v.
Davila, 461 F.3d 298, 302 (2d Cir. 2006).

Garciahas adequately alled¢hatDefendant Sklar threatened hiee said,’| feel like
punching you in the face” (Compl. ®t30),and“l’ m leaving before kill you” (Compl. at{ 31).
In light of Sklar's comments indicating racial and gentdased hostilityGarciahas established
a sufficient nexus between these threats anemjeyment ofights under the NYCHRLCH.
Nieblas-Love v. New York City Hous. Autt65 F. Supp. 3d 51, 78 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (requiring

“some evidence suggesting that . . . threats were ni@adecerce, intimidate, threst or



interfere’ with Plaintiff's exercise of arotected right to survive summary judgment on § 8-
107(19) claim).Garciahas adequately alleged tli2efendants interfered with henjoyment of
herright to a workplace free of race and gender discrimination by threatening her wsihgdhy
harm.

4, Assault and Battery (Thirteenth Cause of Action)

Garciaalleges thabefendant Sklar committed assault and battery against her.

Under New York law, [a]n assaultis an intentional placing of another person in fear of
imminent harmful or offensive contatt.Girden v. Sandals Int'1262 F.3d 195, 203 (2d Cir.
2001) (quotindJnited Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Waterfront N.Y. Realty CoQ94 F.2d 105, 108 (2d Cir.
1993)). To plead a cause of action to recover damages for assault, a plaintiff muest alleg
intentional physical conduct placing the plaintiff in imminent apprehension offllazantact.”
Thaw v. N. Shore Univ. Hosd.2 N.Y.S.3d 152, 155 (App. Div. 2d D¢R015) (quotingGould
v. Rempel951 N.Y.S.2d 677, 678 (App. Di2d Dept 2012).

“ A ‘battery is an intentional wrongful physical contact with another person without
consent.” Girden 262 F.3d at 203 (quotirignited Nat'l Ins. C0.994 F.2d at 108 “To
establish a battery, a plaintiff must prove that (1) the defendant made bodilytc()ttte
contact was harmful or offensive, (3) the defendant intended the contact, and (4)ntiifé qhithi
not consent to the contactWright, 2017 WL 253486, at *6 (citinjaughright v. Weiss826 F.
Supp. 2d 676, 685 (S.D.N.Y. 2011)

In April 2016, Sklar allegedly slammed Garcia’s laptop on her fingers, punchedther
a closedfist, and dragged her by her shirt collar. (Compl. at J &ajcia’sallegations of
intentional punching and dragging her by her collar satisfy the elementsaofteend battery,

and she ientitledto default judgment on this claim.
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V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasorBlaintiff's motion for default judgmens GRANTED IN
PART and DENIED IN PART Specifically, default judgment is granted®arcia’srace and
gender discrimination claims under federal, state, and municipal law; her &aianding and
abetting discrimination and supervisory liability; her claim for interference avttotected
right; and her assault and battery claims. Default judgment is denied as to atlaither
The matter is referred to Magistrate Judge BarbaiddSes for an inquest on damages.
The Clerk of Court is directed to close the motion at Docket Number 24.
SO ORDERED.
Dated: August 16, 2018

New York, New York /%(/7

V J. PAUL OETKEN
United States District Judge
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